
Agenda Item 
 

 

 January 19, 2023 
 
TO: City Council 
 
FROM: Frank Lonergan, Mayor 
 
SUBJECT: Committee Appointment 
 
 
The following appointment is made, subject to the approval of the Council. 
Please forward any adverse comments to me prior to the Council meeting on 
Monday, January 23, 2023. No reply is required if you approve of my decision.  
 
 
Mid-Willamette Valley Community Development Partnership (MWVCDP) Board 

- Alice Swanson 

1



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
JANUARY 9, 2023 

Page 1 - Council Meeting Minutes, January 9, 2023

DATE COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL, CITY OF WOODBURN, COUNTY OF 
MARION, STATE OF OREGON, JANUARY 9, 2023 

CONVENED   The meeting convened at 7:00 p.m. with Mayor Lonergan presiding. 

ROLL CALL 
Mayor Lonergan Present  
Councilor Carney Present  
Councilor Cornwell Present  
Councilor Schaub Present 
Councilor Swanson Present  
Councilor Morris  Present  
Councilor Cabrales Present  

Staff Present: City Administrator Derickson, Acting City Attorney Granum, Assistant City 
Administrator Row, Police Chief Pilcher, Public Works Director Stultz, Community Development 
Director Kerr, Finance Director Turley, Economic Development Director Johnk, Special Projects 
Director Wakely, Community Services Director Cuomo, Human Resources Director Gregg, 
Public Affairs and Communications Coordinator Moore, City Recorder Pierson 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
• City Hall and the Library will be closed on January 17 for Martin Luther King Jr. Day. The

pool will remain open.

• Mayor Lonergan asked for a moment of silence for retired Marion County Sheriff Raul
Ramirez.

• Chili Cook-off is happening on Saturday, January 21, 2023 at the Hoodview Church of God
between 12:00 p.m. and 1:30 p.m.

• Mayor Lonergan asked that Councilors refrain from using their cell phones during the meeting.

APPOINTMENTS 
Mayor Lonergan proposed the following appointments:  
• Woodburn Budget Committee

John Zobrist

• Woodburn Public Art Mural Committee
Christine Lopez
Colleen Vancil
Sharon Schaub
Merri Berlin

• Woodburn Library Board
Marilyn McCully

• Woodburn Parks and Rec Board
Ricardo Vazquez Rodriguez

• Woodburn Planning Commission

2



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
JANUARY 9, 2023 

Page 2 - Council Meeting Minutes, January 9, 2023 

Merri Berlin 

• Mid-Willamette Area Commission on Transportation
Mayor Frank Lonergan

Carney/Morris...approve the appointments.  The motion passed unanimously. 

Mayor Lonergan stated that he would like to appoint a City Councilor to the Mid-Willamette 
Valley Community Development Partnership (MWVCDP) Board and asked if any Councilors 
would be interested. Councilor Swanson stated that she is interested in being appointed and 
requested more information about the MWVCDP.  

PRESENTATIONS 
Oregon City County Managers Associations Designation of 2023 President – Susie Marston, 
outgoing President of the Oregon City County Managers Association (OCCMA) and Gervais City 
Manager and Dan Huff, City Manager of Molalla and incoming OCCMA president of 2024, 
presented City Administrator Derickson with a lantern that represents the leadership that OCCMA 
provides to the profession and congratulated him on being the 2023 President of OCCMA. 

Audit Presentation –  Ryan Pascarella with Grove Mueller and Swank informed the Council that 
the audits for the City and the URA are complete and provided some highlights from the audit. It 
was also noted that the City received an unmodified opinion.  

BUSINESS FROM THE PUBLIC 
Mayor Lonergan stated that the City Council received a letter from Sharon Mansfield and thanked 
her for sending that in.  

CONSENT AGENDA 
A. Woodburn City Council minutes of December 12, 2022,
B. Woodburn City Council Executive Session minutes of December 12, 2022,
C. Acceptance of Three Public Easements at 2230 & 2400 N. Pacific Highway, Woodburn, OR

97071 (Tax Lot 051W08A005000),
D. Acceptance of a Public Easement at 3601 Newberg Highway, Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot

052W110000200),
E. Crime Statistics through November 2022,
F. Updated Building Activity for November 2022,
G. Building Activity for December 2022.
Carney/Schaub… adopt the Consent Agenda. The motion passed unanimously.

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
A Public Hearing to consider input on the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) from 
Business Oregon for the Woodburn Area Emergency Housing Assistance Grant.  Mayor Lonergan 
declared the hearing open at 7:41 p.m. for the purpose of hearing public input on the Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) from Business Oregon for the Woodburn Area Emergency 
Housing Assistance Grant.  Economic Development Director Johnk provided a staff report. No 
members of the public wished to speak in either support or opposition of the Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) from Business Oregon for the Woodburn Area Emergency 
Housing Assistance Grant. Mayor Lonergan closed the hearing at 7:43 p.m.  

COUNCIL BILL NO. 3202 - A RESOLUTION SETTING AMOUNT OF THE PARKS AND 
RECREATION SYSTEMS DEVELOPMENT CHARGES UNDER AN EXISTING 

3



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
JANUARY 9, 2023 

Page 3 - Council Meeting Minutes, January 9, 2023 

METHODOLOGY; ESTABLISHING AN ALTERNATIVE RATE REVIEW FEE; AND 
SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE FOR IMPOSITION OF THE FEES AND CHARGES 
Carney introduced Council Bill No. 3202. City Recorder Pierson read the bill by title only since 
there were no objections from the Council. Community Services Director Cuomo provided a staff 
report. On roll call vote for final passage, the bill passed unanimously. Mayor Lonergan declared 
Council Bill No. 3202 duly passed. 
 
AWARD OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR THE WOODBURN POLICE 
STATION OFFICE REMODEL PROJECT  
Police Chief Pilcher provided a staff report. Carney/Cornwell… award a construction contract to 
Blue Spruce Builders, Inc. for the Woodburn Police Station Office Remodel Project in the amount 
of $115,000 and authorize the City Administrator to sign the contract. The motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES ANALYSIS 
CONSULTING CONTRACT  
Special Projects Director Wakely provided a staff report. Carney/Schaub… award a consultant 
contract for an updated Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) and Economic Opportunities Analysis 
(EOA) to Johnson Economics, LLC in the amount of $49,105 and authorize the City Administrator 
to execute the agreement. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
The City Administrator reported the following: 
• Provided cards to the City Council that contains contact information for the Woodburn 
 Resource Center.  
• Looking into converting mortgage assistance funds into rental assistance funds, which 
 seems to be in higher demand. 
• Jamie was able to get a $25,000 grant for N. Marion County Strategic Plan for part of 
 the tourism program that will encompass all of the communities we collaborate with 
 for economic development. 
• Provided a flyer to City Council for the N. Marion County Small Business resource fair 
 that the City is sponsoring.  
• There is a faulty fan in the HVAC system in Council Chambers and once that is repaired 
 it should get quieter.  
• Reminded Council that there is an executive session.  

 
MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
Councilor Swanson stated that the Emmanuel Lutheran Church Wednesday Meal program has 
expanded services into the community. She added that they have gone to the nonprofits, many of 
them at the 970 Cascade location and asked them to come up with a mini advertisement so that 
each meal that goes out the door would have a little mini advertisement for the highlighted business 
or 501C3 of the week. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Mayor Lonergan entertained a motion to adjourn into executive session under the authority of ORS 
192.660 (2)(h) and ORS 192.660 (2)(f). Swanson/Morris… move into executive session under 
the authority of ORS 192.660 (2)(h) and ORS 192.660 (2)(f). The motion passed unanimously. 
The Council adjourned into executive session at 8:03 p.m. and reconvened at 8:39 p.m. Mayor 

4



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
JANUARY 9, 2023 

Page 4 - Council Meeting Minutes, January 9, 2023 

Lonergan stated that no action was taken by the Council while in executive session. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Morris/Schaub…move to adjourn. The motion passed unanimously. Mayor Lonergan adjourned 
the meeting at 8:39 p.m. 
 
 

 
APPROVED                                                            

                            FRANK LONERGAN, MAYOR 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST                                                                               
                 Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
                 City of Woodburn, Oregon 

5



Page 1 – Executive Session Minutes, January 9, 2023 
 

EXECUTIVE SESSION MINUTES 
JANUARY 9, 2023 

 
DATE COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL, CITY OF WOODBURN, COUNTY OF 
MARION, STATE OF OREGON, JANUARY 9, 2023 
 
CONVENED   The meeting convened at 8:09 p.m. with Mayor Lonergan presiding. 
 
ROLL CALL 
Mayor Lonergan Present  
Councilor Carney Present  
Councilor Cornwell Present 
Councilor Schaub Present 
Councilor Swanson Present  
Councilor Morris Present 
Councilor Cabrales Present 
 
Mayor Lonergan reminded Councilors and staff that information discussed in executive session is not 
to be discussed with the public. 
 
Staff Present: City Administrator Derickson, Acting City Attorney Granum, Economic Development 
Director Johnk, Special Projects Director Wakely, Community Services Director Cuomo, Assistant 
City Administrator Row, City Recorder Pierson  
 
Others in attendance: Attorney Kevin Shuba, Garrett Hemann Robertson PC 
 
The executive session was called:  
 
To consult with counsel concerning the legal rights and duties of a public body with regard to current 
litigation or litigation likely to be filed pursuant to ORS 192.660 (2)(h). 
 
To consider records that are exempt by law from public inspection pursuant to ORS 192.660 (2)(f). 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
The executive session adjourned at 8:37 p.m. 
 
 
      APPROVED_______________________________ 
        Frank Lonergan, Mayor 
 
ATTEST_______________________________ 
   Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
   City of Woodburn, Oregon 
 
 
 
 

 

6



7



8



Agenda Item 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney __x____ Finance ___x__ 

January 23, 2023 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council  

FROM: Jesse Cuomo, Community Services Director 

SUBJECT: Resolution Renaming Locomotive Park to Frank Scheer Locomotive 
Park 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt a resolution renaming Locomotive Park to Frank Scheer Locomotive Park. 

BACKGROUND: 

In 1957, Woodburn received a classic 1902 built steam locomotive through 
donation by Southern Pacific Railroad. The SP 1785 and Frank Scheer have 
become synonymous with each other in the railroad and railfan community. On 
December 23, 2022 City staff received the unfortunate news from a family 
member that Frank had passed. 

Frank did a masterful job of restoring the locomotive using Southern Pacific 
Company erection shop drawings and other source information to ensure that it 
looks exactly as if she had been released from the SP’s Sacramento Shops in 1955. 
Every detail has been meticulously restored or rebuilt, and it is in better condition 
today in the park at Woodburn than most locomotives that are in indoor museums 
throughout the world. The SP 1785 is an icon of the era that so many people are 
fond of. Every steam locomotive displayed in a city park needs an advocate and 
Frank Scheer surely was that advocate for the SP 1785. 

Frank Scheer, as a young local area man came to Woodburn to see the 
locomotive. Realizing it could become a rusting hulk in the park, Frank took on the 
responsibility for the care of Woodburn’s SP No. 1785 for nearly forty years. Gaining 
the town council's blessing, he started what has resulted in a life-long dedicated 
passion. He was not just looking to complete a new paint job every once in a 
while. Rather, he wanted to restore the engine to like new appearance. 

9



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
January 23, 2023 
Page 2 
 
 
Frank with other volunteers first stopped the locomotive's deterioration, then 
started the process of cleaning, repairing and replacing missing parts. New sheet 
metal boiler jacketing along with new cab woodwork has been installed. He 
solicited help from local businesses and the town council. A beautiful paint job 
has recently been completed in addition to a protective structure and lighting. A 
fence secures the engine and old railroad signals Frank salvaged now animate 
the setting. 
  
His meticulous attention to detail has given Woodburn a beautiful steam 
locomotive depicting a bygone era. Woodburn can be proud of the efforts of 
Frank Scheer and those who have helped him. Historians, researchers, students, 
and teachers come to Woodburn to see the 1785, as it is now an ideal instructional 
artifact to show the importance of the nation’s railroads. 
 
PARK NAMING: 
 
On January 10, 2023, Mayor Frank Lonergan and City staff presented to the 
Woodburn Recreation and Park Board the concept of renaming Locomotive Park 
to Frank Scheer Locomotive Park in honor of Frank’s nearly forty years of passion 
and dedication to the SP 1785 Locomotive. This was passed unanimously by the 
Recreation and Parks Board.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
A modest expenditure will be incurred to update park signage.    

10



Page 1 - Council Bill No. 3203 
              Resolution No. 2204 
 
 

COUNCIL BILL NO. 3203 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2204 
 
 
A RESOLUTION RENAMING LOCOMOTIVE PARK TO FRANK SCHEER LOCOMOTIVE 
PARK IN RECOGNITION OF FRANK SCHEER'S PASSION AND DEDICATION TO THE 
RESTORATION AND MAINTENANCE OF THE SP 1785 LOCOMOTIVE 
 
 WHEREAS, Frank Scheer was a leader in the restoration, maintenance, 
and community education of the Southern Pacific Railroad 1785 Locomotive 
for nearly forty years; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Frank Scheer, in partnership with other volunteers, first started 
repairing and replacing missing parts of the SP 1785 Locomotive, including 
installing a new sheet metal boiler and new cab woodwork; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Frank Scheer, during his years of service, also provided 
Locomotive Park with a functioning train signal and other historical artifacts; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, Frank Scheer, worked alongside city leadership and staff to 
continue to care for the SP 1785 Locomotive, including placing a covered 
shelter and lighting to preserve the historical artifact; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Frank Scheer Locomotive Park will be used to preserve the 
SP1785 Locomotive as a historical treasure in Downtown Woodburn in order to 
educate the community and its visitors for generations, NOW, THEREFORE, 
 
THE CITY OF WOODBURN RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 

 Section 1.  That Locomotive Park, located at the corner of South Front 
and East Cleveland Streets, is hereby renamed Frank Scheer Locomotive 
Park, in recognition of his passion and dedication to Woodburn's SP 1785 
Locomotive. 

 
 Section 2. That this Resolution, renaming Locomotive Park to Frank 
Scheer Locomotive Park, is hereby approved by the Woodburn City Council 
and Woodburn Recreation and Park Board. A copy is forwarded to Frank 
Scheer's family with the community's heartfelt thanks and gratitude for his 
service.  
 
 

11



Page 2 - Council Bill No. 3203 
              Resolution No. 2204 
 
 

Approved as to form:      
 City Attorney  Date 
 
 
 
 Approved:   
  Frank Lonergan, Mayor 
 
 

Passed by the Council   

Submitted to the Mayor   

Approved by the Mayor   

Filed in the Office of the Recorder   
 

 
ATTEST:   
  Heather Pierson, City Recorder 

12



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney __x____ Finance __x___ 

 January 23, 2023 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Scott C. Derickson, City Administrator  
 Tony Turley, Finance Director  
 
SUBJECT: FY 2023/24 Financial Plan 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt the attached FY 2023/24 Financial Plan (Budget Policies and Fiscal 
Strategy) via a motion.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
In the past year, the City has experienced a series of difficult and unprecedented 
challenges due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Because of the pandemic, the City 
downsized a host of programs and services, mostly related to the parks and 
recreational programming. In addition, the City has successfully allocated various 
federal and state pandemic related funding to accomplish a variety of programs 
and projects for the community, including the Legion Park Improvement Project 
and to bring critical child abuse services to the Family Resource Center. I’m 
pleased to report that the City’s programs and services have been successfully 
restored to pre-pandemic levels.  
 
Although the City still projects revenue over expense shortfalls within the five-year 
planning period, despite unprecedented residential and industrial development, 
we have successfully utilized the Budget Policies and Financial Plan, as a best 
practice strategy, to effectively manage, plan accordingly for large capital 
projects, and lessen any shortfall impact. Barring any unforeseen crisis, the 5- Year 
Forecast (see attached) does predict financial stability at current levels of 
spending through FY 2023/24 fiscal year.  
 
Based on the forecast, the City Council should approach General Fund spending 
with caution. There are some reasons to be optimistic, such as regional economic 
conditions and the strength of the housing markets, along with potential industrial 
development, that remains strong, but it will be sometime before the financial 
benefit of these markets materialize into General Fund support.  

13



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
January 23, 2023 
Page 2 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
In the interest of sound financial management, the City Council directed that a 
comprehensive set of financial planning documents be developed and 
implemented for the purposes of improving the City’s financial sustainability. Since 
the 2011 policy implementation, the City has prepared the Financial Plan as a 
means of managing the City’s current year budget and inform the FY 2023/24 
budget development process. 
 
In past years, the City Council has been commended by the City Auditor and 
recognized by the Government Finance Officers Association for the use of 
comprehensive budget policies and quality presentation, clarity, and 
transparency of Woodburn’s budget documents.    
 
The Financial Plan intends to help predict cost and revenue trends from year to 
year and make better decisions via the memorializing of sound financial practices 
and budget administration. If necessary, the Financial Plan informs the need to 
reduce the City’s budget to remain consistent with the City Council goals and 
meet community needs within available resources.  
 
2023/24 POLICY:  
 
Attached is the proposed FY 2023/24 Financial Plan: Budget Policies & Fiscal 
Strategy, which is largely unchanged from the previous year.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no immediate monetary impact on the City. The Financial Plan draft will 
help make stronger financial decisions that are in the best interests of the 
community and the City organization. 
 
 

14



1 
 

 
City of Woodburn 

 
FY 2023/24 Financial Plan  

Budget Policies, Fiscal Strategy, & Five Year Forecast 
 
 
FY 2023/2024 Budget Goal. Woodburn’s challenge will be associated with development-related 
service demands, maintaining a sound financial position in the face of changing community 
dynamics, and closing projected revenue over expense General Fund shortfalls while working to 
fully rebuild popular parks and recreational programming, which is still recovering from the 
pandemic. It should also be noted that in the prior year American Rescue Plan ACT (ARPA) 
funding has been mostly expended, meaning that the City’s social service programing and project 
support will be likely ending within the next 18 months.   
 
As residential and industrial development continues at an aggressive rate, additional property tax 
revenue will lag behind the demands for service. Consequently, the financial challenge for the City 
will be maintaining current levels of service while accommodating demand without jeopardizing 
the City’s cash reserves and contingencies. These factors will result in a 2023/24 “hold the line 
budget.”   
 

1. Working in the framework of the City Council’s FY 2023/24 Financial Plan and Oregon 
Budget Law, the City Administrator will present a balanced FY 2023/24 Budget, working 
to close projected General Fund revenue shortfalls over time while protecting cash balances 
to the greatest extent possible. It is acknowledged that future revenues and service costs 
are difficult to predict in the face of unprecedented growth.   
 

2. When possible, the City will seek to build cash reserves with the understanding that growth 
in future service levels may lag behind actual revenue forecast. 
 

3. ARPA “roll-up” savings will be redistributed or reallocated as authorized by the City 
Council for programs and services consistent with federal rules. The City Council’s ARPA 
plan, including any new or reallocated resources, will be reflected in the Proposed Budget. 
 

4. In addition, it is also the goal of the City to prioritize existing resources on and services 
such as public safety funding, economic aid, planning, parks and recreation programming, 
including aquatics and library services, and maintaining current service levels as resources 
allow. 
 

5. As a top economic goal, Woodburn is at the front end of a Urban Growth Boundary 
Adjustment to incorporate the Southwest Industrial Reserve Area and is reflected as such 
in the Proposed Budget. 
 

15



2 
 

6. In FY 2023/24, it will be the goal of the City Council to procure professional services 
needed to complete a 5 year Financial Strategic Plan that forecasts new growth-based 
resources for all funds, new expenses associated with increased service levels and making 
recommendation on how resources are allocated within the time period in the most prudent 
manner. 

 
BUDGET POLICY 

 
• SECTION 1.  ANNUAL REVIEW & POLICY 
 

A. Fiscal Responsibility. The policy of the City of Woodburn is to return the highest level 
(or sustain the current levels) of service with the least amount of taxpayer investment and 
to plan accordingly. 
 

B. Balanced Budget. The City’s budget shall be balanced. For each fund, ongoing costs are 
not to exceed ongoing revenues plus available fund balances used in accordance with 
reserve policies. The budget resolution will be adopted by the fund at a summary level. 

 
C. Budget Process. The annual budget process is intended to weigh all competing requests 

for City resources within expected fiscal constraints. Levels of service will increase or 
decrease based on the availability of resources. Requests for new programs made outside 
the annual budget process will be discouraged. New initiatives will be funded by 
reallocating existing City resources to services with the highest priorities.  

 
D. Fiscal Recommendations. Consistent with the administrative responsibilities outlined in 

the Charter, the City Administrator will make fiscal recommendations to the City Council 
on all measures necessary to sustain current levels of service and avoid reductions in City 
programs, including the consideration by the City Council of new revenue sources if this 
is determined to be in the best interest of the community. 

 
E. Budget Policy Updates. The City Council will review and adopt the Fiscal Year Budget 

Policies on an as-needed basis as determined by the City Administrator or as 
circumstances require.   

 
F. Annual Five-Year Forecast. The City Council will review and approve the Five-Year 

Forecast as needed. The forecast is an estimate of future revenues and expenses intended 
to serve as an estimate and a guideline for making sound financial decisions in the current 
fiscal year and budget preparation. The Five-Year Forecast and the Budget Policies 
together will constitute the City’s annual Financial Plan. 

 
G. Policy Direction. Consistent with the role outlined in the Woodburn City Charter, the 

City Council is responsible for providing policy direction to determine the City’s overall 
financial health. In response to the fiscal recommendations made by the City 
Administrator, the City Council shall consider all measures necessary to sustain current 
levels of service.  In addition, the City may avoid reductions in City programs by 

16



3 
 

considering new revenue sources if this is determined to be in the best interest of the 
community. 

 
H. Budget. Under the Woodburn City Charter, the City Administrator serves as Woodburn’s 

Budget Officer. The Finance Director assists the City Administrator with the preparation 
and presentation of the annual budget, budget administration, and the day-to-day finance 
operations. The Budget Officer is responsible for the administration of the annual budget 
and may approve or disapprove the expenditures contained in the adopted budget if 
deemed in the best financial interest of the City. 

 
I. Budget Administration. As authorized by the City Charter, the City Administrator is 

responsible for taking actions necessary to keep expenditures within anticipated revenues, 
including initiating layoffs, reorganizations, downsizing, program reductions, and 
adjustments to service levels. The City Administrator will keep the City Council informed 
as to any steps taken to reduce expenditures, and whenever possible, the Council will 
review the decisions and consider options during a mid-year budget review. 

 
• SECTION 2. DISCRETIONARY & DEDICATED RESOURCES 

 
A. Recognizing Financial Limits. Woodburn will make a distinction between two different 

types of services; 1) those funded primarily from City discretionary resources, and 2) those 
funded primarily from dedicated resources. 

 
B. Discretionary Resources.  The General Fund collects resources to provide discretionary 

programs and services as recommended by the Budget Officer and approved as part of the 
City’s cycle. The City will continue to fund these programs primarily from General Fund 
discretionary resources. These include police, park and recreation, economic development, 
land use, financial services, and other programs.   

 
C. Dedicated Resources. Dedicated resources are normally subject to restrictions via state 

and federal law, grant agreements and contracts, City policy, and ordinances. City services 
funded primarily through dedicated funds include such items as speed and safety belt 
enforcement, grant-funded transportation, utility services, etc.  

 
• SECTION 3. GENERAL FUND BUDGET (DISCRETIONARY) 
 

A. Annual Budget Goal. The goal shall be to prepare a budget that maintains existing high 
priority programs supported by the General Fund while at the same time seek savings and 
alternative revenue sources wherever possible.  Funding for lower priority programs will 
be reduced or eliminated to ensure that expenditures remain in balance with resources. 
 

B. General Fund Emphasis. The highest priority shall be to conserve General Fund 
discretionary resources to fund high priority programs as defined by the City Council and 
City Administrator. 
 

17



4 
 

C. Maximize City Council’s Discretion. Wherever legally possible, revenues are to be 
treated as discretionary resources, rather than as dedicated to a particular program or 
service.  The goal is to give the City Council flexibility in allocating resources to local 
priorities.   
 

D. New Revenues. In order to sustain current levels of service, avoid reductions in public 
safety programs, or increase services needed to meet community demands, the City 
Council may consider new discretionary revenues if it is determined to be in the best 
interest of the community. 
 

E. Use of Dedicated Funding Sources. Whenever legally possible, funding responsibility for 
existing programs or activities should be transferred to appropriate dedicated funding 
sources, freeing up scarce discretionary resources to fund City Council priorities. 
 

F. Cost Efficiency. Staff will prepare fiscally conservative budgets and will seek savings 
wherever a balance between cost efficiency and the quality of public service can be 
achieved. 

 
G. Materials & Services. Departments are to prepare “base budgets” with a goal of holding 

General Fund or other discretionary resources for materials and services expenditures to 
no more than prior year budget levels. 
 

H. No General Fund Street Maintenance Support. No discretionary General Fund revenues 
will be used to support street maintenance activities. General Fund street lighting transfers 
are exempted from this policy.  
 

I. Revenue Estimates. Departments should budget for revenues based on the best 
information available during the annual process. If additional information becomes 
available during the budget process, it should be provided to the Finance Director’s Office.  
Accuracy in revenue/expenditure estimates is critical. Subsequent annual estimates should 
also take into consideration the actual receipts from the previous year. 
 

J. Pursuit of New Departmental Revenues. Departments shall pursue revenue sources to 
the fullest extent possible for all services as well as total cost identification (including 
indirect costs) for fee-setting purposes, grants, or other funding opportunities. Any new 
revenue sources should be used to offset the cost of existing staff and programs, rather than 
funding new staff or programs. Fee schedules will be reviewed annually to ensure costs are 
recovered. Fee schedules will be updated as part of the annual budget process. 
 

K. Expenditure Reductions. Reductions in revenues may require expenditure reductions 
from the “base budget” level. If reductions are required, the City Administrator will be 
guided by the City Council’s adopted Resource Reduction Strategy (See Section 19). 
 

L. New Discretionary Programs. New discretionary programs, deemed a high priority 
activity, may be included in the Proposed Budget with the prior approval of the City 
Administrator.  If programs are added/expanded, an evaluation will be made on the impact 

18



5 
 

to supporting services (e.g. information, finance, facilities, human resource, budget, etc.). 
Any increases in overhead services attributed to additional programs shall be included in 
the analysis of the total cost of new programs.   
 
Should outside funding for a program expire, the program may be terminated by the City 
Administrator or the City Council. 
 

M. Full Cost Recovery. City staff shall make every effort to assign costs where they occur 
through the use of interdepartmental/interfund charges and indirect cost percentage 
assignments. The intent is to clearly define the actual cost of each direct service the City 
provides internally or externally. The first priority is the recovery of overhead costs from 
all funds and grant programs. 
 

N. Annual Budget Savings. To the extent General Fund supported departments experience 
savings during the year (due to position vacancies, etc.) that money shall be designated 
first to meeting the established contingency and reserve levels. Should the contingency and 
reserve levels be met, any remaining savings may be allocated towards the PERS Reserve 
and/or one time projects as determined by the City Administrator. 

 
• SECTION 4. NON-GENERAL FUND / UTILITY BUDGETS (DEDICATED) 
 

A. Bottom-Line Emphasis. For activities or programs funded primarily from non-General 
Fund sources, departments are to prepare “base budgets” with a goal of holding any 
General Fund contribution to no more than the amount provided in the current fiscal year, 
subject to the availability of funds. Whenever possible, reductions in General Fund 
contributions should be achieved. 

 
B. No Backfilling. General Fund discretionary dollars will not be used to backfill any loss in 

water and/or sewer City utility revenue, state-shared or federal revenues, grants, or 
dedicated funding programs (for further information, see the Resource Reduction 
Strategy). 

 
C. Revenue Estimates. Departments should budget for revenues based on the best 

information available at the time the budgets are prepared. If additional information 
becomes available during the budget process, it shall be provided to the Finance 
Department. New revenues should be estimated based on available information for the first 
year.  Subsequent annual estimates should also take into consideration actual receipts from 
the previous year. 

 
D. Overhead Cost Allocation Charges. All non-General Fund departments should budget 

the amount allocated to that department. 
 

E. Cost Efficiency. As with the General Fund, staff responsible for non-General Fund budgets 
will prepare fiscally conservative budgets, and will seek savings wherever a balance 
between cost efficiency and the quality of public service can be achieved. 
 

19



6 
 

F. Utility Revenue Allocations. It is the policy of the City of Woodburn that revenue 
generated by City-owned utilities will first be used to meet operational expenses, and 
subsequently fund capital projects in a manner consistent with Woodburn’s Capital 
improvement plans and operating requirements.   

 
G. Utility Rates. The City will maintain utility rates at a level that ensures that all debt service, 

operating, and capital costs, are adequately recovered and debt covenant requirements are 
met. Capital costs identified in the approved capital improvement plan will be used as the 
basis for forming the capital costs recovery portion of utility rates. 
 

H. System Development Charges. As permissible under state law, the City will pursue the 
recovery of infrastructure-related development costs relating to water, sewer, street, storm, 
and parks. These costs will be delineated via a defensible methodology, which will be 
revised from time to time to ensure accuracy.   

 
• SECTION 5. FUND RESERVES & CONTINGENCIES 
 

A. PERS Side Account Savings. In 2019, the City Council goal of establishing a PERS side 
account was achieved with a City contribution of $2,823,043, which received a PERS 
match. The City will continue to add resources to the City’s PERS Fund as resources allow, 
but will direct any PERS savings to help maintain current service levels. It is the overall 
goal of the City to continue to increase the balance in the City’s PERS Reserve Fund in 
order to make future Side Account contributions.    
 

B. General Fund Contingency. Consistent with Government Finance Officers Association 
(GFOA) best practices, at least 20 percent of the General Fund’s operating appropriation 
shall be placed into the operating contingency to meet cash flow needs, with a long-term 
goal of increasing the reserve to 25 percent as year-end savings occur. In addition, it is the 
goal of the City to preserve the contingency balance to the greatest extent possible. No new 
General Fund program or service will be created that diminishes the General Fund 
Contingency below established minimum levels. 
 

C. Contingency Replenishment. If contingency funds are expended, an effort will be made 
to reduce expenses to retain a minimum of 20 percent General Fund contingency.  

 
D. Shortfall Management Reserve (SMR). The SMR is intended to subsidize future 

shortfalls estimated in the Five-Year Forecast. If SMR funds are expended, an effort will 
be made to replenish funds as savings are identified in the annual budget process. 

 
E. Water & Sewer Fund Contingencies. The Water and Sewer Funds will maintain annual 

contingencies of not less than 5%.  
 

F. Equipment Replacement. This fund is for the replacement of vehicles and equipment. 
The goal is for City departments to transfer one-tenth the value of its fixed asset inventory 
every year as budget allows to ensure future replacement funding is available. Replacement 
fund transfers may be limited or delayed in order to preserve operational budgets.  

20



7 
 

 
• SECTION 6. GRANT APPLICATIONS (ALL FUNDS) 
 

A. Approval to Pursue. The City Administrator’s approval is necessary before any employee 
pursues lobbying efforts on matters having budget implications, and before grant 
applications are submitted to the granting agency. Department Heads should advise the 
City Administrator before official positions are taken on matters that might have budget 
implications. 

 
B. General Fund Matching Funds. Upon approval by the City Administrator, matching fund 

requirements will be presented to the City Council for final approval. 
 
• SECTION 7. NEW POSITIONS, PROGRAMS, AND OVERTIME (ALL FUNDS) 
 

A. Base Budget & New Positions. Departments are to prepare “base budgets” with no new 
regular positions unless specifically authorized by the City Administrator in advance of 
budget preparations. Reorganizations of departments or programs resulting in changes in 
staffing or positions may be considered if the change is cost-neutral or cost savings from 
the current costs. No position compensation or increase will be provided beyond the 
amounts budgeted for the position without prior approval from the City Administrator. 
 

B. Considerations of New Positions/Programs. Unless otherwise authorized by the City 
Administrator, consideration of new programs and positions will occur only if the cost of 
the position or program is offset by non-General Fund sources legally tied to the new 
position or if the cost of the position is offset by new external revenues, reductions within 
existing funds and/or the position is required to generate those revenues. Cost estimates for 
new positions will include office facility space, equipment, rent, utilities, supplies, related 
increases in overhead services, etc.   
 
Additional personnel or programs shall be requested only after service needs have been 
thoroughly documented or after it is substantiated that the new employees will result in 
increased revenue or enhanced operating efficiencies. 
 

C. Annual Overtime Budgets. Departments will anticipate their annual overtime costs to be 
included in the proposed budget. Once the budget is adopted, overtime costs are to be 
managed within adopted levels. No overtime costs can exceed budgeted levels without first 
obtaining the authorization of the City Administrator.  

 
• SECTION 8. MID-YEAR BUDGET REDUCTIONS 
 

A. Revised Revenue or Expense Estimates. If additional information concerning revenue 
reductions or significant expense increases becomes available after the start of the fiscal 
year, it may be necessary to make budget adjustments. These adjustments will be made in 
accordance with the City Council’s adopted Resource Reduction Strategy. 

 
• SECTION 9. MID-YEAR REQUESTS, CONTINGENCY (ALL FUNDS) 

21



8 
 

 
A. Non-Emergency Requests. In those cases where a department is required to absorb an 

unanticipated cost beyond its control of a non-emergency nature, departmental resources 
must first be exhausted prior to a transfer from General Fund contingencies. Upon 
conducting a final financial review of departmental budgets towards the end of the year, a 
transfer from contingency will be presented to the City Council through a budget resolution 
or supplemental budget.  

 
B. Emergency Requests. Emergency requests during the fiscal year will be submitted to the 

City Administrator for recommendation and forwarded to the City Council for 
consideration. 

 
• SECTION 10.  COMPENSATION & BENEFITS (ALL FUNDS) 
 

A. Wage Policy. Historically, the biggest factors forcing budget growth are increases in 
employee compensation and increased benefit costs. The City will have a compensation 
and benefits program that: 1) reflects the value of work performed by our employees, 2) 
compares favorably with the compensation and benefits paid for similar work in both the 
private and public sectors, and 3); considers the community’s ability to pay. Both our 
employees and the public must understand the mutual respect that such a policy warrants. 
 

B. Health Care & PERS Costs. Continue the City’s policy on wage increases which evaluate 
the cost of health insurance and PERS contributions as part of the total compensation 
package. It is the goal of the City to reduce annual escalations of health insurance, and 
other benefit costs by getting the employees to bear an equitable portion of the annual 
premium increases and/or selecting lower cost-benefit programs. 
 

C. Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA). The City Administrator will make a 
recommendation either to include, or not include, a COLA for non-represented employees 
in the Proposed Budget.  COLAs included in the Proposed Budget are considered and 
approved by the Budget Committee and City Council as part of the budget process. COLAs 
or other compensation provided for in collective bargaining agreements will be provided 
for in the annual Proposed Budget. 

 
D. Step Adjustments. Budgeted personnel services expenditures will include an amount to 

account for annual step adjustments for all employees who are not currently at the top of 
their range.  Annual employee step adjustments will not exceed 5% without the expressed 
permission of the City Administrator. 

 
• SECTION 11.  BUDGET CONTROLS 
 

A. Legal Compliance. The City Administrator and Finance Director will continue to review 
and control departmental budgets at the appropriation level.   
 

B. Personnel Services & Benefits. With the exception of overtime pay and temporary help 
accounts, which shall be developed by Department Heads with the advice of the Finance 

22



9 
 

Director and the approval of the City Administrator, personnel services and benefits cost 
calculations will be provided by the City Administrator and the Finance Director and will 
be used as provided.  The City Administrator and the Finance Director will also provide 
estimates for insurance and internal service expenses. These amounts will not be altered by 
Department Heads.  
 

C. Wages & Benefit Control. Positions not entitled to receive benefits will be managed in a 
manner that keeps them below mandatory benefit thresholds (such as PERS, health 
insurance, etc.).  Positions will only be eligible for benefits if approved by the City 
Administrator and/or designated in Job Descriptions. All benefit costs must be anticipated 
and included in the annual Budget. 
 

D. One-Time Revenues.  One-time revenues will be used only for one-time expenses. 
 
• SECTION 12.  UNAPPROPRIATED ENDING FUND BALANCES (ALL FUNDS) 
 

A. Limit Unappropriated Ending Fund Balances. To provide the most budget flexibility 
during the year, the City will limit the use of unappropriated ending fund balances to 
circumstances where they are required by law. Rather than use unappropriated fund 
balances, the goal should be to place any monies not needed for current expenditures in the 
relevant funds’ operating contingencies or a City Council approved reserve. 

 
• SECTION 13.  CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT GUIDELINES  
 

A. Capital Improvement Program. A 6-year Capital Improvement Program will be adopted 
as part of the annual budget process. It will include all projects anticipated to be initiated 
and/or delivered in the 6-year planning period. The Capital Improvement Program will be 
consistent with the City’s adopted Capital Improvement Master Plans. Funding availability 
will determine the rate at which Capital Improvement Program projects are initiated or 
completed. 
 

B. Exceptions. The City will fund dedicated programs and services with dedicated funding 
sources.  Exceptions may be made, on a case-by-case basis, by the Budget Committee, City 
Council, or by the City Administrator if appropriate. One criterion will be whether the City 
would incur more costs elsewhere as a result of the reduction. 
 

C. Capital Planning Consideration. Recognizing that it does not necessarily make sense to 
fund current operations at the expense of long-term capital or planning programs, every 
effort will be made to continue capital and planning programs geared to the City’s long-
term needs. 

 
• SECTION 14. DEBT ISSUANCE (ALL FUNDS) 

 
A. Debt Issuance. The City will issue debt in accordance with the adopted Master Debt 

Resolutions for Sewer and Water. General Obligation debt will only be issued in 

23



10 
 

compliance with state statutes. Debt will only be issued (for all fund types) when a 
dedicated resource is available to meet the required debt service and reserve.   

 
No debt will be issued without the approval of the City Administrator and authorization of 
the City Council. 
 

B. Interfund Transfers. Interfund transfers are allowed if the City Council determines the 
transfer to be in the best interest of the City. All interfund transfers will be managed 
consistent with state budget law.   
 

C. Debt Compliance. On an annual basis the Finance Director and shall ensure that annual 
reporting requirements have been met and will review the condition of the corresponding 
debt funds to ensure compliance with existing financing agreements.   

 
• SECTION 15. DEBT REFINANCING/REFUNDING 

 
A. Debt Refinancing/Refunding. From time to time, the City Council and/or the City 

Administrator may direct the Finance Director to determine the feasibility of 
refinancing/refunding existing debt. Refinancing may include restructuring to meet 
unanticipated revenue expectations, achieve cost savings, mitigate irregular debt service 
payments, release reserve funds, or remove unduly restrictive bond covenants.  
 

B. Responsibility. The Finance Director, with the assistance of consultants as needed, shall 
have the sole responsibility for conducting the analysis of outstanding bond debt for 
refinancing/refunding opportunities that may be presented by underwriting and/or financial 
advisory firms and making a recommendation to the City Administrator.  

 
C. Term of Refinancing/Refunding Issues. The City may refund bonds within the term of 

the originally issued debt. However, the City may consider maturity extension, when 
necessary to achieve a desired outcome, provided that such extension is legally permissible. 
The City may also consider shortening the term of the originally issued debt to realize 
greater savings. The remaining useful life of the financed facility and the concept of inter-
generational equity should guide this decision.  

 
D. Analysis and Report. The City will evaluate each refinancing/refunding candidate on a 

case-by-case basis. When analyzing possible refinancing/refunding opportunities: the City 
establishes a guideline net present value savings threshold goal of three percent (3%) of 
the refinanced/refunded bond principal amount. The net present value savings will be net 
of all related issuance costs. In addition, the Finance Director will make a full report on the 
potential saving generated and any financial risk associated with refinancing/refunding the 
debt. 

 
• SECTION 16. INVESTMENTS 
 

A. Administration. The City of Woodburn’s Investment Policy is attached as Exhibit A.  

24



11 
 

• SECTION 17.  ANNUAL FINANCIAL AUDITS 
 

A. Annual Audit Required. The Oregon Municipal Audit Law (ORS 297.405 – 297.555) 
requires a financial audit and examination be made of the accounts and financial affairs of 
the City at least once a year. Consistent with State law, the City of Woodburn will conduct 
an annual independent audit of the preceding fiscal year. 

 
B. Audit Standards. Woodburn’s annual financial audits will be conducted in accordance 

with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require 
that an independent auditor plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the basic financial statements are free of material misstatement. The audit will 
examine, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the basic 
financial statements. The audit will also assess accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall basic financial statement 
presentation. The audit will contain an assessment of the City’s internal financial controls 
and procedures to make any necessary recommendations for improvement. 

 
C. Finance Director and City Administrator Oversight. It will be the responsibility of the 

Finance Director and the City Administrator to oversee the annual audit process. 
 

D. Preparation of Financial Statements. When feasible, City staff will prepare and provide 
annual financial statements to the auditor’s satisfaction. If staffing levels or other barriers 
exist to internal preparations of financial statements, the City Administrator may authorize 
the auditor’s preparation of financial statements for the purposes of completing the annual 
audit on time. 

 
E. Audit Deadlines & Extensions. Per Section 17 (F), the annual audit will be provided to 

the City Council no later than December 31. Consistent with State law, the annual audit 
will also be filed with the Oregon Secretary of State’s Audit Division no later than 
December 31.  Any and all requests for audit filing or presentation extensions must be 
approved by both the City Administrator and the auditor. In the event that an audit filing 
extension is requested and/or granted, the City Administrator will inform the City Council 
of the reason for the extension request and an estimated time line for completing, 
presenting, and filing the audit.      

 
F. Audit Presentation to Council. The annual audit findings will be presented to the 

Woodburn City Council during a regularly scheduled City Council meeting by a 
representative of the audit firm.  All audits presented to the City Council must be complete 
and signed by a representative of the audit firm. 

 
G. Budget Committee Review. A copy of the annual financial report will be provided to the 

Woodburn Budget Committee for their review. 
 
• SECTION 18.  PROGRAMS  

 

25



12 
 

A. Discretionary Programs. To the extent discretionary resources are available, high priority 
services areas will be slated for growth. Lower priority service areas will receive constant 
or decreasing discretionary support. Based on the direction of the City Council, 
discretionary programs are identified, and prioritized, as follows: 

 
 Police Patrol & Public Safety 
 Police Support Services 
 Financial Services 
 Legal Services  
 Land Use Planning 
 Economic Development  
 Code Enforcement  
 General Administration 
 Library 
 Aquatic Center  
 Recreation Programming 
 Parks and Park/Tree Maintenance 
 Other General Fund Supported Non-Essential Program & Services  
 Computer/Network transfers (new and replacements of equipment and servers) 
 Discretionary Transfers (i.e. Transit, Streets, RSVP, etc.) 
 Community Services (i.e. flower baskets, TOT Grants – where permissible, etc.) 
 Intergovernmental Agreements that provide no direct offsetting revenues 

 
• SECTION 19.  RESOURCE REDUCTION STRATEGY (ALL FUNDS) 
 

A. Goal & Reduction Approach. When faced with a potential reduction in resources, the 
City’s goal is to continue to provide services in a professional, effective and efficient 
manner. Consequently, to the extent possible, across-the-board reductions in expenditures 
will be avoided.   

 
B. Case-by-Case Consideration. Reductions will be made on a case-by-case basis, focusing 

on each individual program or service. If possible, the reduction will be made proportional 
to the programs and services identified by the City Council.   

 
C. Moderation When Possible. If, as a result of a loss of a significant amount of discretionary 

resources, expenditure reductions become necessary they will be made on a moderate case-
by-case basis to discretionary supported programs and services.  
 

D. Discretionary Contributions. If further reductions are required, any discretionary funding 
that supplements or supports services mostly supported with dedicated resources will be 
reduced or eliminated. This may apply to programs or activities expanded or started with 
discretionary resources within the last few years. Exceptions may be made on a case-by-
case basis by the City Council. 
 

E. Furlough Days. If personnel budget/salary savings are required, the City may consider a 
reduced workweek or furlough days prior to laying off staff. 

26



13 
 

 
F. Consideration List. Programs funded by discretionary resources will be reduced or 

eliminated as needed. Legal restrictions or the City’s ability to maintain minimal service 
levels will be considered. The City Administrator can determine the appropriate level of 
consideration at his/her sole discretion when making mid-year reductions or comprising 
the annual budget proposal. Based on the direction of the City Council, the order of City 
service areas to be considered for reductions are: 

 
 Intergovernmental Agreements that provide no direct offsetting revenues 
 Community Services (i.e. flower baskets, TOT Grants – where permissible, etc.) 
 Discretionary Transfers (i.e. Transit, Streets, RSVP, etc.) 
 Computer/Network transfers (addition or replacement of computers and servers) 
 Other General Fund Supported Non-Essential Program & Services  
 Parks and Park/Tree Maintenance 
 Recreation Programming 
 Aquatic Center  
 Library 
 General Administration 
 Code Enforcement  
 Economic Development  
 Land Use Planning 
 Legal Services  
 Financial Services 
 Police Support Services  
 Police Patrol & Public Safety 

 
G. Indirect Costs. The City’s overhead programs will not be prioritized but will be sized to 

the need and size of the overall organization. Generally, wherever possible, the City’s goal 
is to make fee-supported programs self-sufficient. This includes recovering those 
programs’ appropriate share of the City’s overhead costs. If reductions occur, then indirect 
costs will be sized to the needs and size of the rest of the organization. 

 
The Transit Fund indirect costs will be per the federally allowed de minimis overhead rate 
of 10 percent. 

 
H. Dedicated Funding for Programs. Where legally possible, the City will consider using 

dedicated resources to fund high priority programs related to the purpose for which the 
dedicated funds are received. 

27



 

  

28



 
 
 

Table of Contents 
Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................1 

City of Woodburn Background ...............................................................................................................................1 

Purpose of the Forecast .........................................................................................................................................2 

Forecast Methodology ...........................................................................................................................................2 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................................3 

Economic and Demographic Assumptions .............................................................................................................3 

Issues in the Coming Year .......................................................................................................................................3 

Citywide Issues Beyond One Year ..........................................................................................................................3 

Fund Summaries: ....................................................................................................................................................4 

General Fund ..............................................................................................................................................................6 

Building Inspection Fund ............................................................................................................................................8 

Transit Fund ................................................................................................................................................................9 

Street Fund .............................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Water Fund .............................................................................................................................................................. 11 

Sewer Fund .............................................................................................................................................................. 12 

Remaining Funds ..................................................................................................................................................... 13 

Major Assumptions – Revenues .............................................................................................................................. 15 

Major Assumptions – Expenditures ........................................................................................................................ 16 

Glossary ................................................................................................................................................................... 17 

 

29



1 
 

Introduction 
 

City of Woodburn Background 
The City of Woodburn is a municipal corporation, which operates under a Council-Manager form of 
government. Policymaking and legislative authority are vested in the City Council, which consists of an 
elected Mayor (two-year term position) and six councilors (four-year term positions). The City 
Administrator is responsible for carrying out Council ordinances and policies, managing the daily 
operations, and appointing department heads. The City provides a full range of services, including but 
not limited to: police, water, wastewater, public works, library, parks, recreation, aquatics, municipal 
court, community planning and building inspections, and economic development.  
 
Woodburn, incorporated in 1889, is located in 
the Willamette Valley halfway between the 
larger urban areas of Portland and Salem.  
 
The City of Woodburn, with a population of 
26,4681, is Oregon’s 24th most populated city, 
and third most populated city in Marion 
County. The population of the region within a 
30-mile drive of Woodburn is 2.1 million, 
according to the American Community Survey. 
The US Census data shows Woodburn per 
capita income was $23,217 (compared to 
$37,816 for the state), and the median income 
for a household was $56,000, or 25 percent 
less than the state median household income 
of $70,0842.     
 
Historically, the Woodburn economy centered around agricultural and forest products, with the City 
serving as the manufacturing and services hub for these two sectors. As nearby urban populations have 
grown, Woodburn has attracted a variety of new businesses ranging from advanced manufacturing, 
distribution and warehousing, agricultural and food processing, wood products manufacturing, regional 
retail and a wide range of service-providing businesses. Amazon is in the process of building a 3.8 million 
square foot fulfillment center in Woodburn that is the largest current construction project in the state. 
It is targeted to be complete in the spring/summer of 2024. 
 
Woodburn is an attractive community with new single and multi-family housing subdivisions already in 
the development queue. Metro area transportation issues and affordable housing shortages are creating 

                                                           
1 Portland State University, Population Estimates and Reports, Certified Population Estimates, July 1, 2022 
2 US Census Bureau Quick Facts, Woodburn, OR (figures shown in 2019 dollars) 

30



2 
 

population shifts into Woodburn. Marion County’s adopted population projections indicate Woodburn 
will grow to 37,216 by 2030.  

Purpose of the Forecast 
The intent of this forecast is to project the financial position of primary operating funds, based on current 
service levels and conservative assumptions. The forecast sets the stage for the annual budget process, 
aiding both the City Administrator and City Council in establishing policies and priorities to allocate 
resources appropriately. Forecasting is one of the most powerful tools the City has available to help 
make informed financial decisions that will ensure the City’s future vitality and economic stability. 

Forecast Methodology 
Economic forecasting is not an exact science; rather, it is dependent upon the best professional judgment 
of the forecaster. The City of Woodburn’s approach to forecasting is to apply a conservative philosophy 
that neither overstates revenues nor understates expenditures. To enhance the accuracy of projections, 
the City identifies factors that contribute to the changes in revenues and expenditures, such as 
development, inflation, interest rates and known future events that will affect operations. Forecasting 
of operating costs embraces the concept of status quo. This concept assumes that the current level of 
service will continue for the next five years with cost changes based on inflationary increases. This 
provides a baseline economic estimate from which reductions or increases in service levels can be 
determined. To the extent certain reductions or additions are anticipated, they are noted within the fund 
section of this report. Exceptions to the status quo assumptions are noted at the beginning of each fund.  
 
Capital improvement projects are prioritized according to master plans for Water, Sewer, 
Transportation, Storm Water, and Parks, but are scheduled based on available resources. To the extent 
possible, operations are funded first and remaining resources are allocated to fund capital improvement 
projects. This frequently means that improvements are delayed until the needed funding has been set 
aside. Improvements too expensive to be paid from net resources are assumed to be funded via bonded 
debt, although in practice, this is a rare occurrence. For these reasons, capital construction funds, and 
the related special revenue funds, are not included in this forecast. 
 
Utilizing general ledger reports, audited financial statements, water and sewer master plans/rate 
studies, and published City budgets, each of the funds listed below were examined to identify patterns 
in revenues, expenditures and cash balances that may indicate financial instability or threats to the 
sustainability of current operations.  
 
We look forward to feedback from the City Council and other interested parties on identified issues. 
Because the fund section provides detailed information, the executive summary will focus on the most 
significant issues facing the City. 
  

31



3 
 

Executive Summary 
 
The forecast is based on the combined effort of City staff and predicts that most operating funds will 
have sufficient resources to meet expenses over the five-year period. A few of the fund graphs depict a 
declining undesignated balance of resources. While this may seem alarming, it is just an indicator. In 
reality, the City would not submit a proposed budget where costs exceed all available resources. The 
forecast allows the City to identify where problems might occur and provides the adequate time to take 
corrective action before the situation becomes a crisis. The goal in assembling this report is to reveal 
trends, highlight financial issues and provide suggestions and options.  
 

Economic and Demographic Assumptions 
Oregon and the City of Woodburn’s economic condition will be heavily influenced by population growth. 
Woodburn’s economy determines the ability to retain the local workforce as well as attract new job 
seekers. These factors will weigh heavily upon the City’s ability to continue to provide a high-level service 
to the public.  
 

Issues in the Coming Year 
• Continued focus on stabilizing finances across all funds in light of rising wages, increased retirement 

costs and medical insurance costs, and the need to grow the work force to sustain a growing 
community  

• The Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) expansion has permitted opportunities for future development, 
which will increase future demands on safety/security, water, sewers, streets, building activities, and 
recreational opportunities.  Supplying the demand is expected from an estimated 3,000 housing 
units (a mixture of both single-family and multi-family) over the next five years.  Employment needs 
will be met by the development of the newly annexed industrial areas (expected to provide an 
estimated 1 million additional square feet during this time.)   

• Expansion of the Economic Development program 
 

Citywide Issues Beyond One Year 
 
Public Employees Retirement System (PERS): The City participates in the Oregon PERS State and Local 
Government Rate Pool employee pension program. The City’s liability in PERS was $9,545,4863 as of June 
30, 2022. This liability will be paid through a combination of interest earnings and rate increases. Annual 
interest earnings that meet or exceed 6.9 percent will reduce the liability and subsequent biennial PERS 
rates, while earnings below 6.9 percent will increase the liability and also increase subsequent biennial 
PERS rates. Currently, the unfunded liability of $9.55 million has been amortized for repayment through 
2036-37.  Therefore, each biennium includes an increase due to normal cost increases for the current 

                                                           
3 The $9,545,486 is the City of Woodburn’s net proportionate share of the Unfunded Actuarial Liability as of June 30, 2022. 
Oregon PERS’ independently audited financial statement can be found at http://www.oregon.gov/pers  

32

http://www.oregon.gov/pers


4 
 

employees, plus an amortization payment for the unfunded liability. Rate relief is projected to begin in 
the 2037-38 biennium.  
 
In May 2017, Gov. Kate Brown appointed a PERS task force to identify potential funding sources to 
address the statewide $5 billion PERS liability. The findings resulted in the approval of Senate Bill (SB) 
1566 establishing an Employer Incentive Fund (EIF), which provides up to 25.0 percent matching funds 
for qualifying employers who make an additional one-time lump sum payment to pay down their PERS 
unfunded actuarial liabilities (UAL). The PERS board is developing the program, inclusive of procedures 
to request matching funds, and develop a strategy to reduce the unfunded liability. 
 
The city participated in a PERS side account and in December 2019 paid PERS $2,823,043. With the state 
contribution, the total Side Account is $3,527,735. This reduced each of the City’s PERS contribution 
rates by 2.85 percent.  
 
Health Insurance 
Though the City implemented a high-deductible medical plan and attempted to control health insurance 
costs, the growth rates on some policies have continued to increase. Due to the uncertainty in health 
care premiums and an increase in the City’s portion of employee health care costs negotiated in new 
bargaining agreements, the forecast’s first year includes a 7 percent growth assumption and an average 
5 percent growth assumption in each year that follows.   

Fund Summaries: 
 
General Fund 
Service demands in Police and Community Services (i.e., Library, Aquatic Center, Recreation, and Parks) 
will increase as Woodburn’s populations grows. Meeting the service demands will require 
new/additional revenue or cuts to existing programs. Property tax revenue will assist in meeting the 
community needs, and the 3.0 percent annual growth allowed by law has been included in each of the 
forecast years.  Anticipated property development will be included in the tax forecast as they are added 
on the county assessor tax rolls.  Higher inflation in the near-term was taken into account in the salary 
and benefits categories to match the CPI increases in these areas and was also factored into materials 
and service cost assumptions, with a 6.5 percent increase in the first year and smaller increases in the 
four years that follow.  
 
Water 
The operational fund has been strengthened following a declining fund balance caused by rising costs 
and no corresponding rate increases since 2006. A rate study was presented in spring of 2018, which 
resulted in City Council approving ten years of rate increases beginning July 2018: 10 percent increases 
in 2018-19 and 2019-20, followed by annual increases of 4 percent each July in the remaining years 3-
10.  Fund balance reductions are forecast over the next few years as capital projects are completed 
ahead of growth needs. Fund balance should improve as new development is completed. To align the 

33



5 
 

two and maintain a positive balance, the City will prioritize capital improvement projects and may defer 
less critical projects and/or leverage bond proceeds to spread the cost over multiple years. 
 
Transit 
 The Transit Fund has struggled to meet its operational needs in past years, but in most years is able to 
maintain a fund balance due to an annual subsidy from the General Fund and formula funds from the 
Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT). In FY 2020-21, the annual GF subsidy was increased to 
$150,000. Transit aggressively seeks State and Federal grants to fund operations, update the vehicle 
fleet, and maintain and/or increase current levels of service.  Revenue from the statewide transit tax of 
0.1 percent, implemented in July 2018 and charged to all Oregon employees through payroll, helps 
increase annual revenues. 
 
Wastewater 
The Sewer Fund reflects the utility rate revenue and operational costs. Major expansion at the 
Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) originally planned in 2011-12 has been on hold awaiting a decision 
from DEQ regarding the water quality limits for temperature. With that lawsuit finally resolved, work is 
now underway on the project to update the Wastewater Facilities Plan and Rate Study, which will inform 
necessary facilities upgrades and the financial resources required to complete them.  
 
Streets 
The City has allowed the fund balance to grow in preparation for priority capital projects. Currently, the 
West Hayes Street improvement is the top capital improvement project.  
 
HB 2017 Keep Oregon Moving was implemented in 2018 and includes a 4-cent gas tax increase. An 
implementation dashboard has been set up for HB2017 on the ODOT website.  The current Keep Oregon 
Moving report of revenue and expenditures is available on ODOT’s website.    

34



6 
 

General Fund 
 
Variances from Status Quo Assumptions 

• An inflation rate of 6.5% for FY 2023-24 
 

Key Assumptions 
• Property tax revenue increase of 4.5 percent in FY 2023-24, 25 percent in FY 2024-25, and 3 percent FY 2025-

26 through FY 2027-28  
• PERS rate is 22 percent as of July 1, 2023, and will increase to 24 percent two years later in FY 2025-26 
• General Fund Right-of-Way charge on Water and Sewer of 5 percent continues on total revenues 
• Addition of new Right-of-Way charges for small franchise utilities  
 
Operating Position 

 
 

G.F. FY 18-19 FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22  FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 24-25 FY 25-26 FY 26-27 FY 27-28 
 

Actual Actual Actual Actual Projection FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST 

Rev                
15,193,057  

               
14,827,328  

               
15,613,700  

            
18,238,109  

               
19,920,560  

               
18,296,052  

               
21,083,848  

               
21,112,634  

                    
21,437,485  

                    
22,180,011  

Exp                
16,405,256  

               
14,546,479  

               
14,127,125  

            
15,150,253  

               
21,083,831  

               
19,488,648  

               
20,484,037  

               
21,435,259  

                    
22,238,334  

                    
23,072,640  

Diff (1,212,199)      280,849   1,486,576 
 

  3,087,856 (1,1,63,271) (1,192,595)      599,810    (322,625)    (800,849)    (892,629) 

 
Property taxes account for almost two-thirds (60 percent) of annual revenues in the General Fund. 
Property taxes will increase as new developments occur within city limits, but it takes several years to 
see the income increase. The forecast assumes an increase of 4.5 percent in FY 2023-24 from the housing 
permit activity in the last two fiscal years, an increase of 25 percent in FY 2024-25 from the completion 
of the Amazon facility, followed by a more conservative 3 percent growth in the remaining fiscal years 
as the construction of new housing units flattens out.  

 4,000,000

 6,000,000

 8,000,000

 10,000,000

 12,000,000

 14,000,000

 16,000,000

 18,000,000

 20,000,000

 22,000,000

Actual Actual Actual Actual Projection FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2026-27 FY 2027-28

General Fund Forecast 

Revenue Expenses Ending Fund Balance Contingency

35



7 
 

 
Franchise fees, the second largest revenue in this fund, are based on the gross revenues collected in 
Woodburn for utilities that use the City’s right-of-way. Licenses and permits were a significant source of 
revenue in the past year with new commercial and residential development.  Forecast revenues are 
projected to increase at a modest 1.0 percent rate beyond year one of the forecast period. 
 
Potential Impacts and Issues  
There are potential future demands that could increase costs in this fund and will require close 
monitoring. These include:  
 
Police Staffing: As the community grows, there will be an increase in demand for police services. 
  
Parks & Recreation: As demand grows for use of City parks, additional burden is placed on the City’s 
General Fund to provide enhanced services. Additional staff hours are required for cleanup and 
maintenance of these parks. These potential cost increases are not included in the forecasts.  
 
Engineering & Planning: Engineering & Planning division expenditures will be significantly impacted by 
new development within the Urban Growth Boundary expansion, and by the city as a whole. The City 
will closely monitor the actual revenues against the forecast and will take corrective action if necessary.  
 
 
  

36



8 
 

Building Inspection Fund 
 

Variances from Status Quo Assumptions 
• Permit revenues continue to be strong due to large residential and commercial developments 

currently in the pipeline. A conservative forecast reflects a revenue decline from a high point of FY21-
22 and a potential recession in the near future. Assumptions include a 10 percent decrease in FY 23-
24, a 20 percent decrease in FY 24-25, and a 15 percent decrease in FY 25-26 and 26-27. 

• The FY 2021-22 spike was impacted by the new Amazon project 
 
Operating Position 
 

 
  
 
The Building Inspection team provides services to ensure safe building design and construction through 
the enforcement of building codes and standards. Revenues are based on permits issued for new 
development and redevelopment that historically ebbs and flows. Future revenues are based on 
estimates of when specific projects might begin.  
 

Potential Impacts and Issues 
The Building Fund, of course, will be significantly impacted by the Urban Growth Boundary expansion. 
Delays in developers submitting plans or starting construction will impact the bottom line. As building 
activity is forecast to decrease over the next few years from a high point of commercial development in 
FY 2020-21, and potentially decrease further with a recession, the City will closely monitor actual 
revenues against the forecast and take corrective action if necessary.  

 $(1,000,000)

 $1,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $5,000,000

 $7,000,000

 $9,000,000

 $11,000,000

Actual Actual Actual Actual Projection FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST

FY18-19 FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY23-24 FY24-25 FY25-26 FY26-27 FY 27-28

Building Inspection Fund Forecast

Revenue Expenses Ending Fund Balance

37



9 
 

Transit Fund 
 
Variances from Status Quo Assumptions 
• FY 2023-24 includes full staff estimates and  the 60-minute Fixed Route’s reintroduction to City-wide 

schedules following COVID-related reductions in FY 2020-21 and FY 2021-22  
• FY 2022-23, FY 2023-24, and FY 2024-25 revenue and expenditure spikes reflect the purchase of new 

vehicles for Dial-a-Ride, Out-of-Town Medical, and Fixed Route service  
 

Operating Position 

 
 
 

Transit provides Dial-a-Ride services for passengers with limited mobility and fixed route bus operations.  
Services are funded by a contribution of $150,000 from the General Fund, with the balance coming from 
State formula funds, grant revenue, and recently, COVID-relief funds. The City’s new Transit 
Development Plan, to be complete in mid-2023, will assess rider needs, routes, and the revenue streams 
that will sustain and/or build upon existing Transit services over the next 10 years.     
 

Capital Projects — From Operating Revenues 
Bus and van replacements are completed as needed, which historically occurred when funding was 
available. The spike in revenue and expenditures between FY 2023 and 2025 includes new vehicle 
purchases. Pandemic-related manufacturing and shipping shortages delayed new vehicle purchases and 
delivery in the past year. Inflationary factors increased the cost of these vehicles by 25-40%, and 
additional funds have been sought to cover price increases. 
 

Potential Issues 
Should a large, unanticipated reduction of state and/or federal grant revenue occur, this program could 
potentially be curtailed, as replacement funding is not anticipated to be available from the General Fund. 

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

Actual Actual Actual Actual Projection FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY22-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2026-27 FY 2027-28

Transit Fund Forecast

Revenue Expenses Ending Fund Balance

38



10 
 

Street Fund 
 
Variances from Status Quo Assumptions 

• None 
 

Operating Position 
 

 
 
 

State gas taxes are the largest source of revenue followed by a City gas tax and privilege taxes paid by 
PGE and NW Natural.  Revenue is allowed to accumulate over time in order to fund major street 
improvements. As the improvements are underway, the expense budget spikes and the fund balance 
decreases. While the forecast shows fund balance decreasing to zero, in reality the capital projects will 
be staggered or delayed in a manner that preserves the fund balance. 
 

Capital Projects — From Operating Revenues 
The current major capital projects shown in the forecast period are West Hayes Street from Settlemier 
to Cascade and South Woodland Extension.   
 

Potential Impacts and Issues 
Due to the increase in the gas tax/registration/other fees, and the shifting of shared revenues (to cover 
street lighting expenses) to this fund, the financial outlook remains relatively stable. Privilege taxes are 
dependent on population growth and can be impacted by weather patterns.  

 
 

 $(1,000,000)

 $-

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $7,000,000

Actual Actual Actual Actual Projection FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 22-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2026-27 FY 2027-28

Street Fund Forecast

Revenue Expenses Operating Expenses Capital Ending Fund Balance

39



11 
 

Water Fund 
 

Variances from Status Quo Assumptions 
• Spring 2018 water rate study resulted in City Council approved increases over the next 10 years; 

annual increases of 4 percent each July from 2020 to 2028. 
• FY 2018-19 the water bond was refinanced 
• FY 2024-25 expenditure peak reflects the Country Club Road water line transmission replacement 

and I-5 waterline crossing to serve the SWIR area  
 
Operating Position 
Water revenues are primarily driven by consumption. The funds costs are a mix of fixed expenses for the 
systems and infrastructure required to provide water, plus variable operating expenses.  
 

 
 
Potential Impacts and Issues 
As personnel, material and services costs continue to increase, levels of service will become difficult to 
maintain. Additionally, unknown capacity improvements predicated by the UGB expansion will impact 
future capital needs.   
 
Capital Projects — From Operating Revenues 
The Water Construction Fund 466 still carries a balance to cover most of the proposed projects for FY 
2022-23. However, after that balance is spent, the Water Fund will budget transfers for future water 
construction.  While the forecast shows fund balance decreasing to zero, in reality the capital projects 
will be staggered or delayed in a manner that preserves the fund balance. Improvements too expensive 
to be paid from net resources are assumed to be funded via bonded debt.   Major projects include a new 
well and raw water piping at the Parr Road Treatment Plant and painting the elevated storage tank. 

 $(4,000,000)

 $(2,000,000)

 $-

 $2,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $12,000,000

 $14,000,000

Actual Actual Actual Actual Projection FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 22-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2026-27 FY 2027-28

Water Fund Forecast

Revenue Expenses Operating Expenses Capital Ending Fund Balance Contingency

40



12 
 

Sewer Fund 
 

Variances from Status Quo Assumptions 
• Bond defeasance of $13.5 million was paid in early FY 2020-21  
• Sewer rate increases of 5 percent in January 2021 and 2022 

 
Operating Position 
 

 
 
 

Potential Impacts and Issues 
In January 2012, the final design plan for required wastewater treatment plant upgrades were submitted 
to DEQ based on their previously approved evaluation report. In August 2013, EPA provided notice to 
DEQ disapproving of Oregon Water Quality Standards, including Natural Conditions Criteria for 
Temperature, and Statewide Narrative Natural Conditions Criteria, in general. The Pudding River TMDL 
for temperature, established in 2008 using natural criteria, could no longer be used for permitting. 
 
Recently, the legal challenges to TMDL standards have been resolved, which will allow DEQ to establish 
a water quality standard for the Pudding River and the development of the City’s updated National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit.  To initiate this process, the City is undertaking 
an update to the Wastewater Facilities Master Plan & Rate Study, which will inform necessary upgrades 
to the treatment plant and collection systems, as well as the financial resources required to accomplish 
them.      

 $-

 $2,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $12,000,000

 $14,000,000

 $16,000,000

 $18,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $22,000,000

Actual Actual Actual Actual Projection FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 22-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2026-27 FY 2027-28

Sewer Fund Forecast

Revenue Expenses Operating Expenses Capital Ending Fund Balance Contingency

41



13 
 

Remaining Funds 
 
Capital Construction Funds 
Capital Construction Funds are not included in this forecast because their activity is limited by funds 
available. A more robust capital construction plan and reporting mechanisms were implemented for 
development during the FY 2020-21 budget cycle.  
 
Remaining Funds 
The remaining 13 funds have dedicated revenue sources, are for a specific purpose, or have nominal 
activity. These funds have not been included as part of the Five-Year Forecast.  
 
Urban Renewal Forecast is shown below. 
  

42



14 
 

Urban Renewal Fund 
Variances from Status Quo Assumptions 

• Business grants were given out during COVID-restricted times 
• Peak in FY 2018-19 was the First Street Improvement project costs and a loan for the 

improvement which will paid through FY 2028-29 
• The building of two apartment complexes in the Urban Growth Area is expected to increase 

property tax revenue beginning in FY 2023-24 and, therefore, increase the Urban Renewal Fund’s 
revenue 

 

Operating Position 
 

  
 

Potential Impacts and Issues 

Future projects may be impacted by funding, although, many grants are available and staff have been 
successful in acquiring grants.  
 

Capital Projects — From Operating Revenues 
Major projects include the completion of the Bungalow Theater and Museum, Historic Locomotive 
Shelter, and the Public Arts and Mural program.  With the increased operating revenues from the 
assessed valuations of new apartment complexes, new capital projects will be identified in the coming 
years to utilize the additional funds.  

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

 $3,500,000

 $4,000,000

 $4,500,000

Actual Actual Actual Actual Projection FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2026-27 FY 2027-28

Urban Renewal Fund Forecast

Revenue Expenses Operating Expenses Capital Ending Fund Balance

43



15 
 

Major Assumptions – Revenues  
 

 
The assumptions for this forecast are based on historical trends and expected growth. Most revenues 
will be improved as the City’s boundary grows, but there will be pressure on staffing levels or other 
expenses that may generate offsetting expenses in the short run. 
 
Revenue Assumptions 
 
Property Taxes — General Fund 
The Marion County Assessor determines the taxable assessed value of each property. In Oregon, there 
is no correlation between real market value and assessed value. Generally, assessed values grow by 3 
percent per year as allowed by the state constitution, but has been impacted by compression. Reduced 
property tax revenue due to compression reached a peak during the recession and has steadily improved 
in the last three years. The City’s tax rate is permanently set at $6.0534 per $1,000 of assessed value, 
and is subject to limitation under Ballot Measures 5 and 50.  
 
Franchise Fees — General Fund 
These fees are assessments on the utility companies’ gross receipts for using the City’s right-of-way. 
Rates vary by type of utility ranging from 3 percent to 8 percent. Franchise fees are assessed on 
telecommunication, cable television, natural gas, electric utilities, ambulance, and garbage. These 
revenues are expected to grow at a rate of 1 percent for the forecast period. A new Right-of-Way 
Franchise Fee was implemented in December 2020 for small utilities using the City’s right-of-way.  
 
Charges for Goods & Services — Utility User Charges 
Water: The forecast assumes a 4 percent rate increase in each of the forecast years as adopted by City 
Council through 2028. 
  
Sewer: The forecast includes 5 percent rate increases effective January 2021 and January 2022 as 
adopted by City Council. Sewer system revenue increased in FY 21-22 from the year prior by 11 percent 
due to both the rate increase and new residential and commercial development.  
 
Gas Taxes 
The State Gas Tax is estimated with a growth rate of 5 percent per year. 
 
Building, Planning and Engineering Permits 
Permit revenue forecasts are based on specific building developments and assumptions about which 
fiscal year the development is likely to begin. 
  

44



16 
 

Major Assumptions – Expenditures  
 

Personnel Services 
Wages: Due to higher inflation in calendar year 2021 and 2022, a higher COLA (5.5 percent) has 
been accounted for in the first year (FY 2023-24) of the five year forecast. Year 2 of the forecast 
will see a 4.5 percent COLA, and subsequent years have been forecast at a 4 percent increase. 
This is a conservative estimate, which takes into account bargaining agreements and merit 
increases. 
 

• Insurance: A growth rate of 5 percent is used for insurance costs in each of the forecast years. 
 

• PERS: Rate assumptions for all categories were reduced due to the PERS side account. General 
Fund PERS assumptions tend to be slightly higher than other funds due to higher PERS rates for 
Police service employees.  

 
Material and Services 
Impacts of inflation are substantial in the forecast, with a 6.5 percent impact in year 1, a 4.5 percent 
impact in year 2, and 3 percent a year for the remaining years. Management has been aggressive in 
managing costs in this category to help offset growth in personnel services and has been successful in 
holding spending under budgeted amounts. However, inflation, workers’ compensation, and other 
liability insurance rates may cause this category to exceed the management targets as years pass. 
 
Capital Equipment 
Public Works departments maintains a replacement reserve fund for capital equipment replacement, 
with annual fund contributions from the Water, Streets and Sewer funds. The General Fund replaces 
equipment on an as-needed basis or emergency basis, with emphasis on whether funding is available. 
 

Debt Service 
Estimates are based on amortization schedules for outstanding debt issues.   
 

  

45



17 
 

Glossary 
 

Capital Projects 
New construction and major repairs to the City’s fixed assets 
 
Operating Position 
Recurring revenues and recurring expenditures 
 
Potential Impacts 
Refers to issues and challenges that are in addition to the status quo. The intent is to inform the reader 
of economic matters that might occur during the forecast period. 
 
Recurring Expenditures 
The expense portion of status quo, predictable and on-going costs 
 
Recurring Revenues 
The resource portion of status quo, predictable and ongoing revenues 
 
Revenues 
Includes both recurring revenues and transfers in 
 
Status Quo 
The current level of services 
 
Transfers In 
Internal charges by General Fund for services provided to other funds 
 
Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) 
A regional boundary around the City’s perimeter used by local governments as a guide to zoning and 
land use decisions to control urban expansion onto farm and forestlands  

46



Agenda Item 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __x____ City Attorney ___x___ Finance __x__ 

January 23, 2023 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: City Administrator, Scott Derickson 

SUBJECT: Letter in Support of New Gervais Fire Station & Regional Emergency 
Preparedness Facility 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Authorize the Mayor to sign the attached letter.  

INTRODUCTION: 

Attached for the City Council’s consideration is a draft letter in support of the 
Woodburn Fire Districts funding request from the state legislature for the 
construction of a new fire station and regional emergency preparedness facility.  

The Woodburn Fire District will be requesting approximately $3,500,000 of funding 
for the development of a new fire station that will improve emergency response 
to the Gervais community, help meet the regional needs for large scale disaster 
response and preparedness, and proactively prepare for the rapid population 
growth occurring in the south and west portions of the city of Woodburn. 

Attachment: 
Draft Letter of Support 
Letter from Fire Chief Joe Budge 
Woodburn Fire District Legislative Presentation 

47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



Agenda Item 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney ___x___ Finance _x____ 

January 23, 2023 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: City Administrator, Scott Derickson 

SUBJECT: Letter in Support of HB 2662 in 2023 State Legislative Session: ODOT 
Study of Extending WES Commuter Train from Wilsonville to Salem 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Authorize the Mayor to sign the attached letter addressed to Mayor Julie 
Fitzgerald of Wilsonville.  

INTRODUCTION: 

Attached for the City Council’s consideration is a draft letter in support of HB 
2662 in the 2023 State Legislative Session.  This proposed Legislation would fund 
an Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) Public Transportation Division 
Study of extending TriMet’s Westside Express Service (WES) commuter train into 
the North Willamette Valley from Wilsonville to Salem, with stops in Donald, 
Woodburn, and Keizer.  

Attachment: 
Letter to Wilsonville Mayor Julie Fitzgerald 
HB 2662 
WES Commuter Rail 
WES to Salem Study 

84



85



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

82nd OREGON LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY--2023 Regular Session

House Bill 2662
Sponsored by Representative NERON; Senator WOODS (at the request of City of Wilsonville) (Presession filed.)

SUMMARY

The following summary is not prepared by the sponsors of the measure and is not a part of the body thereof subject
to consideration by the Legislative Assembly. It is an editor’s brief statement of the essential features of the
measure as introduced.

Requires Department of Transportation, in collaboration with Tri-Met and Portland & Western
Railroad to study extending Westside Express Service commuter line to Salem. Directs department
to submit findings to interim committees of Legislative Assembly related to transportation not later
than September 15, 2024.

Appropriates moneys from General Fund to Department of Transportation for study.
Declares emergency, effective July 1, 2023.

A BILL FOR AN ACT

Relating to a study on extending the Westside Express Service commuter line to Salem; and de-

claring an emergency.

Be It Enacted by the People of the State of Oregon:

SECTION 1. (1) The Department of Transportation, in collaboration with Tri-Met as de-

fined in ORS 267.334 and Portland & Western Railroad, shall study issues related to extending

the Westside Express Service commuter line to Salem, including increasing the frequency

and hours of service. The study must include, but is not limited to:

(a) A review of the specific operational and locational issues for extending and operating

the Westside Express Service commuter line on the old Oregon Electric Railway using the

existing or new Westside Express Service trains and the Portland & Western Railroad

tracks.

(b) Consulting cities that may be potentially served by the service extension, including

Wilsonville, Donald, Woodburn, Keizer and Salem, to better understand local access and

other related issues.

(c) Consulting relevant transit agencies, including but not limited to South Metro Area

Regional Transit, Woodburn Transit Service and Salem-Keizer Transit, that would potentially

provide bus service from rail stops to Wilsonville, Donald, Woodburn, Keizer or Salem and

exploring options for connecting rail stops with transit service.

(2) The department shall submit a report in the manner provided by ORS 192.245, and

may include recommendations for legislation, to the interim committees of the Legislative

Assembly related to transportation no later than September 15, 2024.

SECTION 2. Section 1 of this 2023 Act is repealed on January 2, 2025.

SECTION 3. In addition to and not in lieu of any other appropriation, there is appropri-

ated to the Department of Transportation, for the biennium beginning July 1, 2023, out of the

General Fund, the amount of $500,000, which may be expended for the purpose of carrying

out the provisions of section 1 of this 2023 Act.

SECTION 4. This 2023 Act being necessary for the immediate preservation of the public

peace, health and safety, an emergency is declared to exist, and this 2023 Act takes effect

NOTE: Matter in boldfaced type in an amended section is new; matter [italic and bracketed] is existing law to be omitted.

New sections are in boldfaced type.

LC 1441

86



HB 2662

1

2

July 1, 2023.

[2]

87



WES COMMUTER RAIL

Background
A unique, historic travel corridor
During the past 70 years, the north-south route ultimately chosen for the 
WES (Westside Express Service) Commuter Rail alignment has been used for 
freight service, but it was once home to two passenger lines. Oregon Electric 
Railway ran one set of tracks along the alignment from Portland to Salem 
in 1908 and later expanded service to Eugene. By 1914, Oregon Electric had 
26 trains entering and departing Portland daily. The rise of the automobile, 
however, diminished service and the railway discontinued passenger  
service by 1933.

In 1918, Southern Pacific Railway also operated “The Red Electric” 
on the route. The steel trains were painted bright red and had 
three round porthole-like windows across the front. At the height 
of operations, “The Red Electric” ran 32 trains entering and 
departing Portland everyday, but service ended in 1929.

Today, Portland & Western Railroad owns the freight line and, in a 
groundbreaking agreement, provides contract services to the commuter  
rail project that became WES.

Transportation limits and pressures
Over time, traditional travel patterns shifted in Washington County.  
Rather than living in the suburbs and commuting to work in Portland’s 
downtown core, a significant number of people live and work within the  
I-5/Hwy 217 corridor.

From 1994 to 2000, the number of households in the corridor grew 34 percent 
faster than the rest of the Portland region, while the number of jobs rose 
at a rate 55 percent faster than anywhere else in the region. Furthermore, 
corridor employment is expected to increase more than 40 percent by 2025.

At the same time, Washington County also is bound by geographic 
constraints that restrict transportation options. Low mountains define the 
east and west sides of the corridor, and the Tualatin River and Fanno Creek 
run through the area.

Collaborating for success
Driven by the desire to improve transit options for residents and employees 
in the heavily traveled corridor, local officials began to explore various 
alternatives in 1996.

AUDUBON
SANCUTARIES

NORTH LOGAN
NATURAL AREA

BARTON
PARK

CANEMAH
BLUFF

BLUE LAKE
REGIONAL PARK

BUTTES
NATURAL

AREA

WILLAMETTE
NATIONAL
CEMETARY

COOPER
MOUNTAIN

NATURE PARK

COFFEE LAKE
CREEK

WETLANDS

EAST
BLISS

BUTTE

FOREST
PARK

SPRINGWATER CORRIDOR

JACKSON BOTTOM
WETLANDS
PRESERVE

PORTLAND
INTERNATIONAL

RACEWAY

JENNE
BUTTE

MARQUAM
NATURE PARK

MARY S. YOUNG
STATE

RECREATION AREA

MT TABOR
PARK

MOUNT TALBERT
NATURE PARK

NEWELL
CREEK

CANYON

POWELL BUTTE
NATURE PARK

OAKS 
BOTTOM
WILDLIFE
REFUGE

RIVER VIEW
NATURAL

AREA

SMITH AND BYBEE
WETLANDS NATURAL AREA

PIER
PARK

TOWLE
BUTTE

TRYON CREEK
STATE

NATURAL AREA

TUALATIN HILLS
NATURE PARK

TUALATIN RIVER
NATIONAL

WILDLIFE REFUGE

GLENN
OTTO

WILLAMETTE
NARROWS

FOREST

RIVER
ISLAND

HERITAGE PINE
NATURAL AREA

COOK
PARK

BIG FOUR CORNERS
NATURAL AREA

SPRINGWATER
CORRIDOR

CO LU M B I A  R I V E R

OSWEGO L AKE

WILLAMETTE RIVER

CLACKAMAS RIVER

W
ILLAM

ETTE RIVER

WILLAMETTE RIVER

CO LU M B I A  R I V E R

South Shore

DAMASCUS

FAIRVIEW

GLADSTONE

HAPPY
VALLEY

LAKE
OSWEGO

MILWAUKIE

OREGON
CITY

SHERWOOD

TIGARD

TROUTDALE

TUALATIN

WEST
LINN

WILSONVILLE

WOOD
VILLAGE

BEAVERTON

GRESHAM

NE PORTLAND

NW PORTLAND

SE PORTLAND

HILLSBORO

El
w

er
t

Division
Division

Stark

Marine

Marine

Washington

Pacific

Pacific Hwy

Hawthorne

Killingsworth

12
2n

d

14
8t

h

SunnybrookSunnybrook
Sunnyside

W oodstock
Allen

Stark

82
nd

82nd

Columbia

Columbia

33
rd

Glisan
Glisan

Jennings Jennifer

Patton

Boones Ferry

15
th

Co
rn

el
iu

s P
as

s

Germantown

Tualatin

H
all

Beef Bend

Mount Hood

Canyon
Powell

Maple

Walker

Multnomah

Airport

Sc
ho

lls
 Fe

rry

Co
rn

el
iu

s P
as

s

Beaverton-Hillsdale Hwy

Bonita

Carman

Am
is

ig
ge

r

Lombard

Lom
bard

Basin

Halsey

65
th

Baseline

Tualatin Valley Hwy

Cornell

South End

Jenkins

Springwater

Thiessen

Kellogg Creek

18
5t

h

Main

SandySt Helens
Durham

Clackamas/Hwy 224

Burnside

Be
th

an
y

82
nd

Sunset

Langer

Bakers Ferry

Oak

King

W
illam

ette

Portl
and

Carver/Hwy 212

Redland

Beavercreek

Thompson

Halsey

Borland

Yeon

Johnson

22
9t

h

New
ber

ry

Tualatin Sherwood

Clackamas-Boring

Schae�er

22
2n

d

McVey

Harmony

Scholls Ferry

Marine

Cornell

W
ebster

Kerr

Bridge

Gr
an

d

Ol
es

on

17
2n

d

BroadwayBroadway

18
1s

t

Johnson

Sh
ut

e

Johnson Creek

Oregon

M
olalla

Ro
y 

Ro
ge

rs

Leland

Oatfield

Br
oo

kw
oo

d

Lake

Barbur

12
4t

h

Re
gn

er

Pe
te

sMountain

River

18
5t

h

Gaarde

Greenburg

B
arbara Welch

16
2n

d

Rive
rs

id
e

Gl
en

co
e

La
dd

H
ill

M
ur

ra
y

Centra
l P

oint

12
2n

d

11
th

28
2n

d

Orient

1s
t 22

3r
d

H
og

an

13
5t

h

18
2n

d

13
5t

h

20
9t

h Roberts

Salam
o

Sta�ord

97th

13
2n

d

12
9t

h

Idleman

King

14
5t

h

Ka
ne

M
acadam

19
0t

h

19
0t

h

17
5t

h

Baker

257th

50
th

23
2n

d

Powell

St Johns

Stark

Sandy

Burnside

Barnes

Skyline

Ce
da

r H
ill

s

Barbur

Taylors

Ferry

Ce
sa

r  
Ch

av
ez

M
LK

Airport

Po well Valley

Fessenden

McLoughlin

82
nd

Kruse Way

Troutdale

Country Club

Boones Ferry

M
LK

Taylors Ferry

Sagert

H
al

l

Evergreen

Evergreen

West Union Laidlaw

Kaiser

15
8t

h

M
ur

ra
y

Cornell

Tualatin Valley Hwy

17
0t

h

Roots

Sandy

W alnut

12
1s

t

Holcomb

82nd

Willamette Falls

Casc ade

Brockman Ca
pi

to
l

24
th

12
th

M
cLoughlin

McLoughlin

-

Clackam
as/H

w
y 22 4

Car ver/Hwy 212

Farmington

Historic Colum
bia R

iver Hw
y

Jo
rdan

Mou nt Scott

Cl
ac

ka
m

as
 R

ive
r D

rive

Lusted

Bull Mountain

Bo
on

es
 F

er
ry

Expo CenterExpo Center

Kenton/
N Denver
Kenton/
N Denver

Delta Park/
Vanport
Delta Park/
Vanport

Overlook
Park
Overlook
Park

PSUPSU

Interstate/
Rose Quarter
Interstate/
Rose Quarter

Albina/
Mississippi
Albina/
Mississippi

Rose Quarter
Transit Center
Rose Quarter
Transit Center

Parkrose/Sumner
Transit Center
Parkrose/Sumner
Transit Center

Portland
International Airport
Portland
International Airport

N Lombard
Transit Center
N Lombard
Transit Center

N PrescottN Prescott

Rosa ParksRosa Parks

N KillingsworthN Killingsworth

Merlo Rd/
SW 158th Ave
Merlo Rd/
SW 158th Ave

Quatama/
NW 205th Ave
Quatama/
NW 205th Ave

Orenco/NW 231st AveOrenco/NW 231st Ave

Fair Complex/
Hillsboro Airport
Fair Complex/
Hillsboro Airport

Hawthorn
Farm
Hawthorn
Farm

Wash
ington/

SE 12th Ave

Wash
ington/

SE 12th Ave

Tuality
 Hosp

ita
l/

SE 8th Ave

Tuality
 Hosp

ita
l/

SE 8th Ave

Hatfie
ld

Government C
enter

Hatfie
ld

Government C
enter

Hills
boro Centra

l/

SE 3rd Transit
 Center

Hills
boro Centra

l/

SE 3rd Transit
 Center

CascadesCascades

Washington
Park
Washington
Park

NE 82ndNE 82nd

Mt Hood AveMt Hood Ave

WilsonvilleWilsonville

TualatinTualatin

Hall/NimbusHall/Nimbus

SE Main

SE DivisionSE Division

SE PowellSE Powell

SE HolgateSE Holgate

Lents/SE FosterLents/SE Foster

SE FlavelSE Flavel

SE FullerSE Fuller

SE 17th
& Rhine
SE 17th
& Rhine
SE 17th
& Rhine

SE 17th & HolgateSE 17th & Holgate

SE BybeeSE Bybee

SE Tacoma/
Johnson Creek
SE Tacoma/
Johnson Creek

Lake Oswego
Transit Center
Lake Oswego
Transit Center

Oregon City
Transit Center
Oregon City
Transit Center

SE ParkSE Park

Milwaukie/
Main
Milwaukie/
Main

NE 60thNE 60th
Gateway/NE 99th
Transit Center
Gateway/NE 99th
Transit Center

E 102nd AveE 102nd Ave E 122nd AveE 122nd Ave E 148th AveE 148th Ave E 162nd AveE 162nd Ave

E 172nd AveE 172nd Ave

E 181st AveE 181st Ave
Rockwood/E 188th AveRockwood/E 188th Ave

Ruby Junction/E 197th AveRuby Junction/E 197th Ave

Civic DriveCivic Drive

Gresham Central
Transit Center
Gresham Central
Transit Center

Gresham City HallGresham City Hall Cleveland AveCleveland Ave

Clackamas Town Center
Transit Center
Clackamas Town Center
Transit Center

Barbur Blvd
Transit Center
Barbur Blvd
Transit Center

Willow Creek/
SW 185th Ave
Transit Center

Willow Creek/
SW 185th Ave
Transit Center

Sunset
Transit Center
Sunset
Transit Center

Beaverton
Transit Center
Beaverton
Transit Center

Tigard
Transit Center
Tigard
Transit Center

WES (Westside Express Service) 
is a commuter rail line serving 
Beaverton, Tigard, Tualatin 
and Wilsonville. WES runs 
every 30 minutes during 
the weekday morning and 
afternoon rush hour.

88



Washington County and its eastern cities identified a 
unique opportunity in the 100-year-old rail corridor, 
which was used primarily for freight transport. They 
saw the potential to use this resource for adding a 
commuter rail line to serve four cities: Beaverton, 
Tigard, Tualatin and Wilsonville.

Together with county leaders, the mayors of 
Beaverton, Tigard, Tualatin, Wilsonville and Sherwood 
championed commuter rail. Working with Metro, 
TriMet and the Oregon Department of Transportation, 
the team launched a feasibility study to consider 
commuter rail as a viable alternative. Then Oregon 
House member Tom Brian took a leadership role to 
secure funding for follow-up studies.

Obtaining or building a right-of-way in a high growth 
area is challenging and expensive. This concept took 
advantage of the existing railroad right-of-way to limit 
construction impacts.

Construction highlights
Using existing freight tracks in a dedicated corridor 
meant minimal construction impacts to businesses 
and resident along most of the new line.

The first phase of WES construction in 2006 involved 
the removal and installation of track, ties and ballast 
between Wilsonville and Beaverton. These necessary 
improvements allowed trackway upgrades to 
accommodate commuter rail train speeds of up to  
60 miles per hour. 

During construction, the project deployed a 
specialized track rehabilitation machine called the 
P811 to simultaneously dismantle existing track, 
pick up existing ties, plow existing ballast, place 
new concrete ties and thread new rail. The P811 was 
chosen to speed rail reconstruction, replacing 14 miles 
of trackway in 30 days.

Although the majority of the WES line uses existing 
freight alignment, a short section of new track was 
constructed on Lombard Avenue between Farmington 
Road and Beaverton Transit Center. State and local 
agencies simultaneously implemented planned  
street improvements in order to limit duration  
of construction.

Community outreach
Construction crews minimized the impact of noise 
and road closures to nearby businesses and residences. 
Advance notice of construction schedules and 
schedule changes were provided to local jurisdictions, 
businesses and residences. 

The project also worked to capitalize on the line’s 
unique setting. Characterized by parklands, wetlands 
and flood plains, the WES alignment takes riders 
through areas seldom seen by commuters. The 
Tualatin River and Fanno Creek crisscross the route. 
TriMet, the City of Tigard and Clean Water Services 
partnered on an 11-acre wetland mitigation project  
at Tigard’s Fanno Creek Park, adjacent to the line.  
The project also refurbished a steel truss bridge built 
in the 1920s.

Project innovations
A new kind of rail car
WES vehicles share the track with freight trains and 
the project team installed a state-of-the-art signal 
system with computerized dispatch for vehicle 
coordination and safety.

Four diesel multiple unit (DMU) cars were built for 
the project, and TriMet maintains the vehicles at the 
WES Wilsonville Maintenance Facility. The railcars are 
self-propelled units, and don’t require a locomotive 
engine or overhead electrical wiring. They also can pull 
a second car. 

In January 2011, TriMet added two rail diesel cars 
(RDCs) to the WES fleet to serve as replacement cars 
when one of the DMUs needs maintenance or repair.

Built in 1953 by Budd Co., the two cars received repairs 
and modifications from WES mechanics to provide 
safe and comfortable contemporary service.

An Oregon Electric passenger train on the alignment in the 

early 20th century.

89



Public art
The Commuter Rail Art Advisory Committee, composed 
of representatives from every station area, guided 
the public art program. The committee selected 
Northwest artists Frank Boyden and Brad Rude to 
develop artwork for the stations. The artwork created 
consists of a series of interactive sculptures, titled 
The Interactivators. Sited at all five WES stations, each 
sculpture speaks to the natural environment of the 
surrounding community, while remaining linked to the 
other sculptures along the rail line.

Additionally, a mural at the Tigard Transit Center 
depicts the diverse flora and fauna of the Tualatin 
River watershed, through which the line passes.

Safety
To prepare local communities for WES service and an 
increase of 32 trains per day with the ability to go 60 
miles per hour through 29 crossings, TriMet developed 
a safety outreach campaign. Safety presentations 
and printed safety materials were provided to 
motorists, residents, potential trackway trespassers, 
K–12 students, law enforcement officials, emergency 
responders, social service agencies and professional 
drivers, including delivery and school bus drivers.

Materials containing core safety messages consisted 
of direct mailings, fact sheets, posters, billboards 
and two versions of a safety video—one for a general 
audience and one for middle and high school students. 
Safety materials were sent to and published by:

• Community newsletters

• City and county websites 

• School newspapers and sports programs

• Parent newsletters

• Local newspapers

Ultimately, more than 50,000 individuals and 
households were reached by the safety campaign.

Train horn mitigation
In January 2011, a quiet zone and wayside horns 
became operational along the WES and freight 
alignment in Tualatin. The quiet zone stretches 
2.4 miles and encompasses four crossings, while 
the wayside horns are installed at four downtown 
crossings. These train horn mitigations were installed 
at the request of community members, and funded by 
WES project partners and the American Recovery and 
Reinvestment Act.

WES safety materials, such as these posters, appeared at 

public venues along the commuter rail alignment.

Aprenda más en trimet.org/wes

Probando trenes ahora. 
Otoño del 2008 inicia el servicio 
a pasajeros el tren WES.

WES service debuted with four diesel 

multiple unit (DMU) vehicles.

90



Available in other formats

WES Commuter Rail Tour Fact Sheet / July 2016

WILLAMETTE RIVER

Beaverton

Wilsonville

Hillsboro 

PSU

Clackamas
Town Center

Expo
Center

Gresham

Airport

Pioneer
Square

Pioneer
Square

MilwaukieMilwaukie

Snapshots
Timeline
1996–1999 Preliminary studies

1999–2002 Local community and jurisdiction approval

2006 Federal approval (FFGA)

October 2006–January 2009 Construction

February 2009 Service begins

Annual Ridership

Facilities
Length 14.7 miles

Stations 5

Park & Rides 4, with nearly 700 spaces

Maintenance facility Wilsonville

Frequency
Weekdays every 30 minutes during morning and 
afternoon rush hours.

Travel times
Beaverton to Wilsonville 27 minutes

Beaverton to Tigard 11 minutes

Wilsonville to Tigard 18 minutes

Bus and light rail connections
Connects with 15 TriMet bus lines along the WES 
route. At Beaverton Transit Center, connects with MAX 
Red and Blue lines light rail service. At Wilsonville, 
connects with bus lines serving Salem (Cherriots), 
Canby (CAT) and Wilsonville (SMART).

Funding

in
 t

h
ou

sa
n

d
s 

of
 r

id
es

, p
er

 y
ea

r

475,180 rides 
in FY15

FY13FY12FY11FY10 FY14 FY15
300

400

500

600

$35.3 million
State

Total: $161.2 million

$58.7 million
Federal

$67.2 million
Regional and Local

91



Draft 2023 Legislative Concepts

3. ODOT Public Transportation Division Study of 
WES North Willamette Valley Extension from 
Wilsonville to Salem, with Stops in Woodburn and 
Keizer

92



Draft 2023 Legislative Concepts

Issues of Concern 
• Lack of sufficient alternative, public-transit commute options 

along I-5 from Salem/Keizer area to Portland area 

• Major new traffic-generators along I-5 south of Wilsonville are 
proposed or now underway: 

oNew 3.6-million-square-foot Amazon warehouse in Woodburn: 
hundreds of delivery trucks and 1,500+ workers to open in 2023; 

oNew Siletz Tribe Casino/Hotel entertainment complex in North 
Salem/Keizer: 1,473 direct jobs, majority of patrons from the 
Portland metro region, resulting in over 7,800 new weekday trips

93



Draft 2023 Legislative Concepts
Specific Legislative Concepts for WES Extension Study 
• ODOT Public Transportation Division, Rail Operations & 

Statewide Multimodal Network Unit, in conjunction with 
WES sponsor TriMet and WES operator Portland & Western 
Railroad 

• Study and document the various costs, benefits and 
operational issues of extending the current rush-hour-only 
Westside Express Service (WES) commuter train from the 
current southern terminus in Wilsonville to Salem, with 
potential stops in Woodburn, Donald and Keizer

94



Draft 2023 Legislative Concepts
Specific Legislative Concepts for WES Extension Study 
• Use portion of the 122-mile 

“Oregon Electric Railway”  
Willamette Valley Route  
passenger route that 
operated 1908 - 1933  

• Used now by short-line  
Portland & Western Railroad, 
a division of the Genesee &  
Wyoming Inc.

95



Draft 2023 Legislative Concepts
Specific Legislative Concepts for WES Extension Study 
• Engage SMART, Salem-Keizer Mass Transit District and 

Woodburn Transit that would provide bus connections to 
the WES rail stops in Wilsonville, Woodburn, Donald, Keizer 
and Salem 

• The transit agencies would be charged to develop “last-
mile” connections from WES station stops to each of the 
communities that they serve  

• Recommended allocation of $500,000 for study

96



Agenda Item 
 

 

 
Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney __x____ 
 

January 17, 2023 
 

 
To:              Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
From: Chris Kerr, Community Development Director    
  
Subject: Council Briefing of Planning Commission approval of a Design 

Review application package for a Speculative Industrial 
Development (‘Specht” Industrial) located at the on terminus of 
Evergreen Rd.  (DR 22-02, VAR 22-01, EXCP 22-01) 

 
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends no action be taken on this item but provides this summary 
pursuant to Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) Section 4.02.02.  The 
Council may call up this item if desired and, by majority vote, initiate a review 
of this Commission decision. 
 
Background: 
 
On January 12, 2023, the Planning Commission approved a request to build a 
new 513,193 square foot single-story industrial building with on-site trailer 
storage/fleet parking, passenger vehicle parking, stormwater detention 
facilities, landscaping, and a screening wall along the north property line.  The 
motion to approve included all proposed conditions of approval and received 
five votes in favor and one against.  The dissenting member expressed concerns 
with the traffic problems in this area.  In terms of testimony, one letter of support 
was received and no parties testified in opposition to the proposal.  
 
The 30 acre site is located at the southwest terminus of Evergreen Road on 
vacant farm land.  This property was included as part of the City’s successful 
expansion of the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) completed in 2016 which 
amended the designation of this site to Southwest Industrial Reserve (SWIR).  The 
SWIR is intended to support industrial uses on large parcels of land.  The property 
was annexed into the City in March of 2021, after which it was officially assigned 
the SWIR zoning district and Interchange Management Area (IMA) overlay 
district.  There is no specific tenant proposed at this time and the applicant has 
stated that they anticipate initiating construction as a “speculative” building.   

97

https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo


Page 2 of 3 

 
The Commission approval included the applicant’s Street Exception requests, 
which were necessary due to the fact that some of the surrounding properties 
have not yet been annexed.  The Commission also approved the applicant’s 
single variance request related to driveway spacing. 
 
The final decision includes numerous conditions of approval which primarily 
relate to mitigating adverse traffic impacts from the development, these 
include: 
 

• Completing the Evergreen Rd. extension/connection to Parr Rd.;  
• A restriction prohibiting future truck traffic from accessing Evergreen Rd. 

to the north; 
• Financial contribution to mitigate impacts on Evergreen Rd.;  
• Financial contributions to City (or County) to mitigate at Parr/Butteville 

Rd.; 
• Supplemental IMA Transportation SDC payment; and  
• Financial contribution to the City to enhance transit service to is 

property.  

The full application can be found here:  DR 22-02 application file  
 
Aerial and site plan are below:  
 

 

98

https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/project/design-review-dr-22-02-specht-industrial-development


Page 3 of 3 

 
 

 

99


	Appointments 1-23 - 23
	January 9, 2023
	Council Executive Session Minute January 9, 2023
	Council Memo - Retirement of City Attorney from PERS
	MEMO - Authorization to Adjust the City Administrator and City Attorney's Employment Agreement
	Staff Report - Frank Scheer Locomotive Park Naming
	Locomotive Park renaming Frank Scheer
	SR - 2023-24 Financial Plan Adoption
	2023-24 Budget Policies Revised
	City of Woodburn Five-Year Forecast 2023-24 to 2027-28 FINAL 1.17.23
	Introduction
	City of Woodburn Background
	Purpose of the Forecast
	Forecast Methodology

	Executive Summary
	Economic and Demographic Assumptions
	Issues in the Coming Year
	Citywide Issues Beyond One Year
	Fund Summaries:

	General Fund
	Building Inspection Fund
	Transit Fund
	Street Fund
	Water Fund
	Sewer Fund
	Remaining Funds
	Urban Renewal Fund
	Major Assumptions – Revenues
	Major Assumptions – Expenditures
	Glossary

	Woodburn Fire District request
	Woodburn City Council Support Request
	WFD Legislative Powerpoint PDF
	WES Support letter
	Letter in Support of HB 2662 in 2023 State Legislative Session - WES
	HB 2662 - Intro (2023)
	WES Commuter Rail
	WES to Salem Study - 2022-23 Legis Concept Slides to CC
	City Council Agenda Item call-up briefing - DR 22-02 Specht



